
GENERAL ORDERS,
)

WAR DEPARTMENT,
C Adjutant General's Office,

No. 17. ) Washington, January 21, 1863.

I ..At a Military Commission, which convened at Thibodeaux,

Louisiana, on the 18th day of November, 1862, pursuant to General

Orders, No. 25, dated November 17, 1862, from Headquarters Reserve

Brigade, near Thibodeaux, Louisiana, and of which Lieutenant Colonel

E. B. Merritt, 75th New York Volunteers, was President, was ar-

raigned and tried

—

Granson, or Granville, a colored man.

Charge.—"Attempt at rape."

Specification—"In this; that he, Granson, or Granville, did, by force

and violence, attempt to have carnal knowledge of the body of

Miss Louise Duferne, against her will."

To which charge and specification the prisoner pleaded as follows

:

To the Specification, "Not Guilty."

To the Charge, "Not Guilty."

Finding.

The Court, after mature deliberation upon the testimony adduced,
finds the accused as follows

:

Of the Specification, "Guilty."

Of the Charge, " Guilty."

Sentence.

And the Court does therefore sentence him, the said Granson, or
Granville, " To be hanged by the neck till he be dead, at such time and
place as may be designated by the Commanding General;" all the
members of the Court concurring therein.

II. .In compliance with the 5th section of the act approved July 17,

1862, the proceedings in the case of Granson, or Granville, a colored
man, have been submitted to the President of the United States, and
the sentence is by him approved.

By order of the Secretary of War:

Official :

L. THOMAS,
Adjutant General.

Assistant Adjutant General.





GENERAL ORDERS, i WAR DEPARTMENT,
v Adjutant General's Office,

No. 18. ) Washington, January 22, 1863.

I.. Before a General Court Martial, which convened in the city of

Washing-ton, D. C, November 27, 1862, pursuant to " Special Orders,"

No. 3(>2, dated Headquarters of the Army, November 25, 1862, and of

which Major General D. Hunter, U. S. Volunteers, is President, was

arraigned and tried

—

Major General Fitz-John Porter, U. S. Volunteers.

Charge 1st.
—"Violation of the 9th Article of War."

Specification 1st
—" In this ; that the said Major General Fitz-John Porter,

of the Volunteers of the United States, having received a lawful

order, on or about the 27th August, 1862, while at or near War-

renton Junction, in Virginia, from Major General John Pope,

I
his superior and Commanding Officer, in the following figures

and letters, to wit

:

'Headquarters Army of Virginia,

'August 27, 1862, 6.30 p. m.,

' Bristoiv Station.

'Major General F. J. Porter,

JVarrenton Junction.

' General: The Major General Commanding directs that you
start at one o'clock to-night and come forward with your whole

corps, or such part of it as is with you, so as to be here by day-

light to-morrow morning. Hooker has had a very severe action

with the enemy, with a loss of about three hundred killed and

wounded The enemy has been driven back, but is retiring

along the railroad. We must drive him from Manassas, and

clear the country between that place and Gainesville, where

McDowell is. If Morell has not joined you, send word to him
to push forward immediately ; also send word to Banks to hurry

forward with all speed, to take your place at Warrenton Junction.

It is necessary, on all accounts, that you should be here by day-

light. I send an officer with this despatch, who will conduct

you to this place. Be sure to send word to Banks, who is on
the road from Fayetteville, probably in the direction of Bealton.

Say to Banks, also, that he had best run back the railroad train



to this side of Cedar Run. If he is not with you, write him to

to that effect:

' By command of Major General Pope

:

(Signed) ' GEO. D. RUGGLES,
' Colonel and Chief of Staff.

1 P. S.-—If Banks is not at Warrenton Junction, leave a regi-

ment of infantry and two pieces of artillery, as a guard till he

comes up, with instructions to follow you immediately. If

Banks is not at the Junction, instruct Colonel Clary to run the

trains back to this side of Cedar Run, and post a regiment and

section of artillery with it

' By command of Major General Pope

:

(Signed) 'GEO. D. RUGGLES,
'Colonel and Chief of Staff.

1

Did then and there disobey the said order, being at the time in

the face of the enemy. This at or near Warrenton, in the State

of Virginia, on or about the 28th of August, 1862."

H-xifi ration 2d—" In this : that the said Major General Fitz-John Porter,

being in front of the enemy, at Manassas, Virginia, on or about

the morning of August 29, J 862, did receive from Major General

John Pope, his superior and Commanding Officer, a lawful

order, in the following letters and figures, to wit:

'Headquarters Army of Virginia,

' Centreville, August 29, 1862.

'Generals McDowell and Porter:
'You will please move forward with your joint commands

towards Gainesville. I sent General Porter written orders to

that effect an hour and a half ago. Heintzelman, Sigel, and

Reno are moving on the Warrenton turnpike, and must now be

not far from Gainesville. I desire that, as soon as communica-

tion is established between this force and your own, the whole

command shall halt. It may be necessary to fall back behind

Bull Run at Centreville to-night. I presume it will be so on

account of our supplies. I have sent no orders of any descrip-

tion to Ricketts, and none to interfere in any way with the

movements of McDowell's troops, except what I sent by his

Aide-de-Camp last night, which were to hold his position on
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the Warrenton pike until the troops from here should fall on the

enemy's flank and rear. I do not even know Ricketts' position,

as I have not been able to find out where General McDowell

was until a late hour this morning. General McDowell will

take immediate steps to communicate with General Ricketts,

and instruct him to join the other divisions of his corps as soon

as practicable. If any considerable advantages are to be gained

by departing from this order, it will not be strictly carried out.

One thing must be held in view : that the troops must occupy a

position from which they can reach Bull Run to-night or by

morning. The indications are that the whole force of the enemy

is moving in this direction at a pace that will bring them here

by to-morrow night or the next day. My own headquarters will

for the present be with Heintzelman's corps, or at this place.

(Signed) 'JOHN POPE,
1 Major General Commanding.''

Which order the said Major General Porter did then and there

disobey. This at or near Manassas, in the State of Virginia, on

or about the 29th of August, 1862."

Specification 3d—"In this; that the said Major General Fitz-John

Porter, having been in front of the enemy during the battle of

Manassas, on Friday, the 29th of August, 1862, did on that day
receive from Major General John Pope, his superior and Com-
manding Officer, a lawful order, in the following letters and
figures, to wit:

' Headquarters in the Field,

'August 29, 1862, 4,30 p. m.
1 Major General Porter:
'Your line of march brings you in on the enemy's right flank.

I desire you to push forward into action at once on the enemy's
flank, and, if possible, on his rear, keeping your right in
communication with General Reynolds. The enemy is massed
in the woods in front of us, but can be shelled out as soon as
you engage their flank Keep heavy reserves, and use your bat-
teries, keeping well closed to your right all the time. In case
you are obliged to fall back, do so to your right and rear, so as
to keep you in close communication with- the right wing.

( Signed

)

< JOHN POPE
,

&

'Major General Commanding.''



Which said order the said Major General Porter did then and
there disobey, and did fail to push forward his forces into action

either on the enemy's flank or rear, and in all other respects did

fail to obey said order. This at or near Manassas, in the State

of Virginia, on or about the 29th of August, 1862."

Specification 4th—"In that the said Major General Fitz-John Por-

ter, being at or near Manassas Junction on the night of 29th

August, 1862, did receive from Major General John Pope, his

superior and Commanding Officer, a lawful order, in figures and
words as follows, to wit

:

'Headquarters Army of Virginia,

'In the field, near Bull Run,
' August 29, 1862, 8.50 p. m.

' Major General F.J. Porter :

' General : Immediately upon receipt of this order, the precise

hour of receiving which you will acknowledge, you will march

your command to the field of battle of to-day, and report to me
in person for orders. You are to understand that you are expected

to comply strictly with this order, and to be present on the field

within three hours after its reception, or after daybreak to-morrow

morning.

(Signed) 'JOHN POPE,
'Major General Commanding.''

And the said Major General Fitz-John Porter did then and

there disobey the said order, and did permit one of the brigades

of his command to march to Centreville—out of the way of the

field of battle—and there to remain during the entire day of

Saturday, the 30th of August. This at or near Manassas Station,

in the State of Virginia, on the 29th and 30th days of August,

1862."

Specification 5th—"In this; that the said Major General Fitz-John

Porter, being at or near Manassas Station, in the State of Vir-

ginia, on the night of the 29th August, 1862, and having

received from his superior Commanding Officer, Major General

John Pope, the lawful order set forth in specification fourth to

this charge, did then and there disobey the same, and did permit
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one other brigade attached to his command—being the brigade

commanded by Brigadier General A. S. Piatt—to march to Cen-

treville, and did thereby greatly delay the arrival of the said Gen-

eral Piatt's brigade on the field of battle of Manassas, on Saturday,

the 30th August, 1862. This at or near Manassas, in the State

of Virginia, on or about the 29th day of August, 1862."

Charge 2d.— -'Violation of the 52d Article of War."

Specification 1st
—"In this; that the said Major General Fitz-John

Porter, during the battle of Manassas, on Friday the 29th

August, 1862, and while within sight of the field, and in full

hearing of its artillery, did receive from Major General John

Pope, his superior and Commanding Officer, a lawful order to

attack the enemy, in the following figures and letters, to wit:

' Headquarters in the Field,

' August 29, 1862, 4.30 p. m.

'Major General Porter:

'Your line of march brings you in on the enemy's right flank.

I desire you to push forward into action at once on the enemy's

flank, and if possible on his rear, keeping your right in commu-
nication with General Reynolds. The enemy is massed in the

woods in front of us, but can be shelled out as soon as you engage

their flank. Keep heavy reserves, and use your batteries, keep-

ing well closed to your right all the time. In case you are

obliged to fall back, do so to your right and rear, so as to keep

you in close communication with the right wing.

(Signed) 'JOHN POPE.
'Major General Commanding. '

Which said order the said Major General Porter did then and

there shamefully disobey, and did retreat from advancing forces

of the enemy without any attempt to engage them, or to aid the

troops who were already fighting greatly superior numbers, and

were relying on the flank attack he was thus ordered to make

to secure a decisive victory, and to capture the enemy's army, a

result which must have followed from said flank attack, had it

been made by t\e said General Porter in compliance with the

said order, which he so shamefully disobeyed. This at or near
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Manassas, in the State of Virginia, on or about the 29th of

August, 1862."

Specification 2d—"In this; that the said Major General Fitz-John

Porter, being with his Army Corps on Friday, the 29th August,

1862, between Manassas Station and the field of a battle then

pending between the forces of the United States and those of

the rebels, and within sound of the guns and in the presence of

the enemy, and knowing that a severe action of great conse-

quence was being f night, and that the aid of his corps was

greatly needed, did fail all day to bring it on to the field, and

did shamefully fall back and retreat from the advance of the

enemy without any attempt to give them battle, and without

knowing the forces from which he shamefully retreated. This

near Manassas Station, in the State of Virginia, on the 29th of

August, 1862."

Specification 3d—"In that the said Major General Fitz-John Porter,

being with his Army Corps near the field of battle of Manassas,

on the 29th August, 1862, while a severe action was being fought

by the troops of Major General Pope's command, and being in

the belief that the troops of the said general Pope were sustain-

ing defeat and retiring from the field, did shamefully fail to go

to the aid of the said troops and general, and did shamefully

retreat away and fall back with his army to the Manassas

Junction, and leave to the disasters of a presumed defeat the

said army; and did fail, by any attempt to attack the enemy, to

aid in averting the misfortunes of a disaster that would have

endangered the safety of the capital of the country. This at or

near Manassas Station, in the State of Virginia, on the 29th day

of August, 1862."

Specification 4th—"In this; that the said Major General Fitz-John Por-

ter, on the field of battle of Manassas, on Saturday, the 30th

August, 1862, having received a lawful order from his superior

officer and Commanding General, Major General John Pope, to

engage the enemy's lines and to carry a position near their

centre, and to take an annoying battery there posted, did pro-

ceed in the execution of that order with unnecessary slowness,

and by delays give the enemy opportunities to watch and know
his movements, and to prepare to meet his attack ; and did fnally



so feebly fall upon the enemy's lines as to make little or no im-

pression on the same, and did fall back and draw away his

forces unnecessarily, and without making any of the great per-

sonal efforts to rally his troops or to keep their lines, or to inspire

his troops to meet the sacrifices and to make the resistance

demanded by the importance of his position, and the momentous

consequences and disasters of a retreat at so critical a juncture

of the day."

To which charges and specifications the accused, Major General Fitz-

John Porter, U. S. Volunteers, pleaded as follows:

Charge First.

To Specification 1st, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 2d, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 3d, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 4th, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 5th, "Not Guilty."

And to the Charge, "Not Guilty."

Charge Second.

To Specification 1st, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 2d, "Not Guilty."

To Specification 3d, "Not Guilty."

And to the Charge, "Not Guilty."

Finding.

The Court, having maturely considered the evidence adduced, finds

the accused, Major General Fitz-John Porter, of United States Volun-

teers, as follows:

Charge First.

Of the 1st Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 2d Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 3d Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 4th Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the 5th Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the 1st Charge, "Guilty."

Charge Second.

Of the 1st Specification, " Guilty, except so much of the specification

as implies that he, the accused, 'did retreat from advancing forces of



the enemy,' after the receipt of the order set forth in said speci-

fication."

Of the 2d Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 3d Specification, "Guilty, except the words 'to the Manassas

Junction.'

"

Of the 2d Charge, " Guilty."

Sentence.

And the Court does therefore sentence him, Major General Fitz-John

Porter, of the United States Volunteers, " To be cashiered, and to be

forever disqualified from holding any office of trust or profit under the

Government of the United States."

II.. In compliance with the 65th of the Rules and Articles of War,

the whole proceedings of the General Court Martial in the foregoing

case have been transmitted to the Secretary of War, and by him laid

before the President of the United States.

The following are the orders of the President

:

The foregoing proceedings, findings, and sentence in the foregoing

case of Major General Fitz-John Porter, are approved and confirmed;

and it is ordered that the said Fitz-John Porter be, and he hereby is,

cashiered and dismissed from the service of the United States as a

Major General of Volunteers, and as Colonel and Brevet Brigadier

General in the Regular Service of the United States, and forever dis-

qualified from holding any office of trust or profit under the Govern-

ment of the United States.

ABRAHAM LINCOLN.
January 21, 1863.

III.. The General Court Martial, of which Major General Hunter is

President, is hereby dissolved.

By order op the Secretary of War:

L. THOMAS,
Adjutant General.

Official :

Assistant Adjutant General.
,



GENERAL ORDERS, ) WAR DEPARTMENT,
v, Adjutant General's Office,

No. 29. )
Washington, February 4, 1863.

At a General Court Martial, which convened at the Headquarters of

the 2d Brigade, 2d Division, 2d Corps. Army of the Potomac, near

Falmouth, Virginia, on the 17th day of January, 1863, pursuant to

General Orders, No. 13, dated the 17th January, 1863, from the Head-

quarters 2d Division, 2d Corps, Army of the Potomac, and of which

Lieutenant Colonel CURRY, 106th Pennsylvania Volunteers, was

President, was arraigned and tried—

1st Lieutenant Joseph Nichols, 19th Maine Volunteers.

Charge 1st.
—"Conduct prejudicial to good order and military disci-

pline."

Specification—" In this; that he, the said Joseph Nichols, 1st Lieutenant

Co. C, 19th Maine Volunteers, did tender his resignation while

near the enemy, under an allegation or pretext of the inexpe-

diency and unconstitutionality of a Proclamation of the President

of the United States ; thereby affording an example deeply inju-

rious to the service, and meddling with the war policy of the

Government, with which he has nothing to do.
"

Charge 2d.—"Disloyalty to the Government."

Specification—" In this ; that he, the said Joseph Nichols, 1st Lieutenant

Co. C, 19th Maine Volunteers, entertains ideas in opposition to

the Government, expressing his belief of the inexpediency and

unconstitutionality of one of its leading measures, and stating

further that he cannot serve conscientiously and zealously under

it, the said measure being expressly intended to weaken the

enemies of the United States. All this at camp near Falmouth,

on or about the 12th of January, 1863."

To which charges and specifications the accused pleaded as follows:

To the Specification, 1st Charge, "Not Guilty."

To the 1st Charge, "Not Guilty."

To the Specification, 2d Charge, "Not Guilty "

To the 2d Charge, "Not Guilty."



Finding.

The Court, after mature deliberation upon the evidence adduced,

finds the accused as follows

:

Of the Specification, 1st Charge, "Guilty," except the words "and
meddling with the war policy of the Government, with which he has

nothing to do.
"

Of the 1st Charge, "Guilty. "

Of the Specification, 2d Charge, "Guilty," except the words, " the

said measure being expressly intended to weaken the enemies of the

United States."

Of the 2d Charge, "Not Guilty. "

Sentence.

And the Court does therefore sentence him, the said First Lieutenant

Joseph Nichols, 19th Maine Volunteers, " To be dismissed the service of

the United States, receiving his pay and allowances. "

II.. This officer tendered his resignation when in front of the enemy,

on the grouud that he regarded the President's Emancipation Procla-

mation as inexpedient and unconstitutional, and in consequence could

not conscientiously serve under it. He was tried under charges of

disloyalty and of conduct prejudicial to good order and military disci-

pline, and was sentenced to be dismissed with his pay and allowances.

The sentence was disapproved by Major Generals Couch and Sumner

as too lenient, and the latter uearnestly recommends that this officer

shall be dishonorably dismissed the service, with the loss of all pay and

allowances."

By direction of the President, the above recommendation is approved,

and will be immediately carried into effect.

By order of the Secretary of War:

L. THOMAS,
Adjutant General Q

Official:

Assistant Adjutant Gen:rah



GENERAL ORDERS, \ WAR DEPARTMENT,
\ Adjutant General's Office,

No. 43. ) JVashington, February 13, 1863.

J. .Before a General Court Martial, which convened in the city of

Saint Louis, Mo., September 24, 1862, pursuant to Special Orders,

No. 239, dated Headquarters of the Army, September 13, 1862, and

Special Orders, No. 260, dated September 25, 1862, and of which Brig-

adier General P. St. George Cooke, U. S. Army, is President, was
arraigned and tried

—

Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster, U. S. A.

Charge.—"Neglect and violation of duty to the prejudice of good

order and military discipline."

Specification 1st
—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster, at St. Louis, Missouri, in the Department of the West,

when one Peter Wiles, of Saint Louis, had furnished to his de-

partment a number of horses fit and proper for the service, at

about the price of one hundred dollars each, and was able and

willing to furnish other like horses at the same cost, and offered

to do so, refused to purchase said horses unless at a reduced

price, and broke off his dealing with said Wiles, while he, said

McKinstry, was purchasing from other persons—viz: Charles

ML Elleard, B. F. Fox, Almon Thomson, F. J. Flannegon,

James B. Neill, and others—horses no better, at the prices of one

hundred and nineteen dollars and one hundred and fifty dollars

each, to the gross waste and squandering of the public funds,

and with the intent to throw the business into the hands of the

dealers to whom he was paying the higher prices. This at

Saint Louis, Missouri, on or about the tenth day of August,

eighteen hundred and sixty-one."

Specification 2d—"In this; that ho, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master, Saint Louis, Missouri, knowing that by allowing to one

Peter Wiles, of the city of Saint Louis, a commission of five

per cent, on the purchase price of the horse.3, he could procure a



large number of horses fit and proper for the service, and at a

cost not exceeding one hundred dollars each, did not and would
not purchase said horses, while, about the same time, he pur-

chased other horses no better and at higher prices, to net one

hundred and nineteen dollars each and one hundred and fifty

dollars each, from other persons—to wit: Charles M. Elleard,

James B. Neill, F. J. Flannegon, Ansyl Philips, and others

—

with intent to favor the purchasers at higher prices, and to the

gross waste and squandering of the public funds. This at Saint

Louis, about the tenth day of August, eighteen hundred and

sixty-one."

Specification 3d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster as aforesaid, at Saint Louis, Missouri, when one

Frederick M. Colbum, of the city of St. Louis, had furnished to

his department a number of cavalry horses fit and proper for

the service, at the price of one hundred and eight dollars each,

and was able and willing to furnish other like horses at the

same cost, and offered to do so, refused and failed to inspect or

receive said Colburn's horses, and by neglecting to attend to

said Colbum when he offered his horses, by refusing to grant

him inspection, and by annoying said Colburn with delays and

expenses, in keeping and feeding his horses without inspection,

broke off his dealings with said Colburn, while he, Major

McKinstry, Quartermaster as aforesaid, was purchasing other

horses no better than Colburn's from other persons—viz: James

B. Keill, Almon Thomson, Charles M. Elleard, and F. J. Flan-

negon—at the price of one hundred and nineteen dollars each, to

the waste and squandering of the public funds, and with intent

to throw the business into the hands of the dealers to whom he

was paying the higher prices. This about August twenty-

second, eighteen hundred and sixty-one, at Saint Louis, Mis-

souri."

Specification 4th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, at Saint Louis, Missouri, having contracted

with one Oliver Lippencott to purchase from him, Lippencott,

twelve mules at the price of ninety dollars each, and said Lip-

pencott having brought said mules to the Quartermaster's office



for delivery, failed and refused to have said mules inspected or

considered under said contract, but sent one Ansyl Philips, from

whom he, said McKinstry, was purchasing mules at one hun-

dred and nineteen dollars each, to purchase the said mules from

Lippencott; and when said Philips had purchased of said Lippen-

cott seven of said mules at the price of seventy-five dollars each,

he, said McKinstry, purchased the same seven mules from said

Philips at a higher price, to wit: one hundred and nineteen

dollars each, to the gross Avaste and squandering of the public

funds, and with intent to favor the said Philips as a dealer.

This about the eighth day of August, eighteen hundred and

sixty-one, at Saint Louis, Mo. "

Specification 5th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master, at Saint Louis, when one Oliver Lippencott offered to

sell him five mules at ninety dollars each, failed and refused

to purchase said mules from Lippencott; and when said Lippen-

cott had sold said mules to a Government contractor, whose

name is unknown, he, said Major McKinstry, purchased the same

five mules from said contractor at the price of one hundred and

nineteen dollars each, with intent to favor such contractor, and

to the gross waste and squandering of the public funds. This

about the twentieth day of August, eighteen hundred and

sixty-one."

Specification (>th
—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, when one John H. Morse, of Jefferson county,

Missouri, went to him at his office in Saint Louis, Missouri, and

offered to sell him a large number of mules fit and proper for

the service, and inquired if he was going to purchase any more

mules, falsely stated to said Morse that the Government was not

in need of any more, which statement he, said McKinstry,

knew to be false, thereby intending to compel said Morse to sell

his mules to others, from whom he, McKinstry, was then pur-

chasing these animals at exorbitant rates above the market

value. This at Saint Louis, about the first day of August,

eighteen hundred and sixty-one."

Specification 7th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, having need, on or about the tenth day of



August, eighteen hundred and sixty-one, to purchase for his

department a large number of cavalry horses, did not and would

not purchase them in the market nor for the market value; but

authorized one Charles M. Elleard, of Saint Louis, without any

advertisement for proposals, to furnish the same to him at one

hundred and nineteen dollars each ; and between that day and

the twentieth day of September, in the same year, said Elleard

had sold to said McKinstry, Quartermaster as aforesaid, about

one thousand eight hundred cavalry horses,' the market value

of which was about ninety dollars only, each, on the average ; he,

said Major McKinstry, thereby then and there prostituting his

office of Quartermaster, with intent to secure to said Elleard, and

others in collusion with him, large gains, to the squandering

and waste of the public funds and the disgrace of the service.
"

Specification 8th—-"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster as aforesaid, on or about the tenth day of August,

eighteen hundred and sixty-one, having need to purchase a

number of artillery horses for his department at Saint Louis,

Missouri, did not and would not purchase them in the market

nor for the market value; but, without any advertisement for

proposals, authorized one Charles M. Elleard, of Saint Louis,

to furnish the same to him at one hundred and fifty dollars

each; and between that day and the twentieth day of Sep-

tember in the same year, said Elleard sold to said McKinstry,

Quartermaster as aforesaid, about three hundred artillery horses

for one hundred and fifty dollars each, the market value of

which, on the average, was about one hundred and ten dollars

only, each; he, said Major Justus McKinstry, thereby then and

there prostituting his office as Quartermaster, with intent to

secure to said Elleard, and others in collusion with him, large

gains, to the waste and squandering of the public funds and to

the disgrace of the service."

Specification 9th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, on or about the first day of August, eighteen

hundred and sixty-one, at St. Louis, Mo., having need to pur-

chase for his Department a large number of cavalry horses and



mules, did not and would not purchase the same in the 'market

nor for the market value; but, without any advertisement for

proposals, authorized one James B. Neill to furnish the same at

one hundred and nineteen dollars each; and on that day, and

divers days between that day and the first day of October in the

same year, said Neill had sold to said Major McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, about one thousand cavalry horses and

mules for one hundred and nineteen dollars each, the market

value of which was about eighty dollars each; he, the said Major

Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster, thereby then and there prosti-

tuting his office, with intent to secure to said Neill, and others in

collusion with him, large gains, to the waste and misapplication

of the public funds and the disgrace of the service."

Specification 10th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, on or about the first day of August, eighteen

hundred and sixty-one, having need to purchase a large number

of artillery horses for his department, did not and would not*

purchase the same in the market nor for the market value; but,

without any advertisement for proposals, at St. Louis, Missouri,

authorized one James B. Neill, of St. Louis, to furnish the same

to him at one hundred and fifty dollars each; and between that

day and the sixth day of October, eighteen hundred and sixty-

one, said Neill sold to said Major McKinstry, Quartermaster as

aforesaid, about three hundred artillery horses, at the price of one

hundred and fifty dollars each, the market value of which was

about one hundred and ten dollars each on the average; he, said

Major McKinstry, thereby then and there prostituting his office,

with intent to secure to said Neill, and others in collusion with

him, large gains, to the misapplication and waste of the public

funds and the disgrace of the service."

Specification 1 J th
—

" In this ; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master, at St. Louis, on or about the twelfth day of September,

eighteen hundred and sixty-one, having need to purchase a large

number of mules for his department, did not and would not

purchase the same in the market nor for the market price; but,

at St. Louis, Mo., without any advertisement for proposals,

authorized one Leonidas Haskell, of St. Louis, late of Cali-



fornia, to furnish the same to him at the price of one hundred
and nineteen dollars each ; and between that day and the twenty-

seventh day of September, in the same year, said Haskell sold

to Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster, about four thousand
mules, at one hundred and nineteen dollars each, the market value

of which was about one hundred dollars each on the average

;

he, said Major Justus McKinstry, thereby then and there prosti-

tuting his office as Quartermaster, with intent to secure to said

Haskell large gains, to the waste and misapplication of the

public funds and to the disgrace of the service."

Specification 12th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, at St.

Louis, Mo., about the 20th day of August, 1861, having need to

purchase artillery and cavalry horses for the use of his depart-

ment, did not and would not purchase the same in the market

nor for the market value; but, without any advertisement for

proposals, authorized one F. J. Flannegon, of St. Louis county,

to furnish the same to him; that is to say, artillery horses for one

hundred and nineteen dollars each, and cavalry horses for one

hundred and eighteen dollars each ; and in the residue of said

month of August, and in the month of September, 1861, said

Flannegon delivered under said authority about two hundred

artillery horses, at the price of one hundred and nineteen dollars

each, the market value of which was only about ninety dollars

each; he, said Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster as afore-

said, thereby intending to secure to said Flannagon large gains,

to the waste and squandering of the public funds."

Specification 13th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, on orabout

the 20th day of August, 1861, having need to purchase a large

number of artillery horses and cavalry horses for his department,

did not and would not purchase the same in the market nor for

the market value; but, without any advertisement for proposals,

authorized one Benjamin F. Fox, of Springfield, Illinois, to fur-

nish the same to him at one hundred and nineteen dollars each

for cavalry horses, and one hundred and fifty dollars each for

artillery horses ; and between that day and the first day of Octo-

ber, in the same year, said Fox sold to said Major Justus



McKinstry about five hundred cavalry horses for one hundred

and nineteen dollars each, the market value of which was about

ninety dollars each, and about two hundred artillery horses, the

market value of which was about one hundred dollars each; he,

the said Major Justus McKinstry, thereby then and there prosti-

tuting' his office of Quartermaster, with intent to secure large

gains to said Fox, to the waste and squandering of the public

funds and the disgrace of the service."

Specification 14th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, having, about the 20th August, 1861, at St.

Louis, Mo., contracted with one Benjamin F. Fox, of Illinois, to

furnish him, as Quartermaster, a number of artillery horses for the

price of one hundred and twenty-five dollars each, afterwards,

when said Fox was performing his contract and was about to

deliver a portion of the horses at that price, afterwards, about

the 12th of September, 1861, out of mere favor to said Fox, and

without any other consideration, agreed with said Fox to pay

him one hundred and fifty dollars each for the same horses which

said Fox had contracted to furnish at one hundred and twenty-

five dollars each, and did receive from said Fox said horses

accordingly, at the price of one hundred and fifty dollars each."

Specification 15th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster as aforesaid, having authorized, as aforesaid, James B.

Neill to furnish to his department cavalry horses for one hundred
and nineteen dollars each, and artillery horses for one hundred
and fifty dollars each, did suffer and permit said Neill to inspect,

receive, and brand his own horses so sold to him, said McKinstry.

This at St. Louis, on the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth

days of September, 1861, to the gross neglect and disregard of

the interests of the service."

Specification 16th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-
termaster, having authorized James B. Neill as aforesaid to furnish

him artillery horses and cavalry horses as aforesaid, did suffer

and permit said Neill to receive and brand horses as cavalry

horses, furnished by himself as cavalry horses, at one hundred
and nineteen dollars each, and afterwards to brand the same



horses as artillery horses, and did receive the same from said

Neill as artillery horses, at the price of one hundred and fifty

dollars each. This at St. Louis, about the 10th of September,

1861."

Specification 17th—"That on or about the day of , 1861,

when one Almon Thompson offered to sell to him, Major Justus

McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid, a number of mules, about

seventy, fit and proper for the service, and when said mules

were greatly needed in the service, he, said McKinstry, did

not and would not purchase said mules, nor cause the same to

be inspected for a long time, nor until said Thomson paid one

James B. Neill fifty dollars to have his mules purchased, and

then said McKinstry had said mules inspected and purchased

the same; he, said McKinstry, thereby then and there prostitut-

ing his office, with intent to favor the said James B. Neill."

Specification 18th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, when one James Everett, of Saint Louis,

Missouri, about the 28th August, 1861, offered to sell him a

large number of horses fit and proper for the service, some of

them as cavalry and some of them as artillery horses, and

would have sold them to him at about one hundred dollars each

all round, refused and neglected to purchase said horses, or in-

spect the same, and did not and would not inspect the same, till

said Everett was compelled to sell .his horses to Charles M.

Elleard and F. J. Flannegon and others, to whom said Major

McKinstry was paying higher prices for said horses ; and when

said Everett had so disposed of the horses, he, Major Justus

McKinstry, purchased the same horses from Elleard and Flan-

nagon and others, at one hundred and nineteen dollars each for

cavalry, and one hundred and fifty dollars each for artillery

horses, to the waste and squandering of the public funds ; he, said

McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to compel said

Everett to turn his horses over to said Elleard and Flannagon

and others, contractors at higher prices, and to enable them to

make large gains above the market value of said animals. This

at Saint Louis, on or about September 6, 1861."



Specification J 9th—"In this; that be, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master, at Saint Louis, when one John Allen, of St. Louis, was

able and willing to sell him a large number of mules and

cavalry and artillery horses fit and proper for the service, and

offered to do so, the cavalry and artillery horses at about one

hundred and five dollars each, and the mules at about one hun-

dred and nine dollars each, failed, neglected, and refused to

inspect or purchase said animals, until said Allen had been com-

pelled to sell them to contractors, to whom he, McKinstry, was

paying higher prices, to wit: one hundred and nineteen dollars

each for mules and cavalry horses, and one hundred and fifty

dollars each for artillery horses; that is to say, to B. F. Fox, of

Illinois, Charles M. Elleard, Leonidas Haskell, James B. Neill,

of Saint Louis, and F. J. Flannagon, and others ; and when
said Allen had so sold his animals, he, said McKinstry, did pur-

chase the same animals from said contractors for the prices last

mentioned, thereby prostituting his office as Quartermaster, with

intent to secure large gains above the market value to said Elle-

ard, Flannagon, Haskell, Fox, and others, to the waste and

squandering of the public funds. This about the twentieth

September, 186J, at Saint Louis, Missouri."

Specification 20th— " In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, when one Josephus Irvine, of Pike county,

Missouri, was able and willing, and offered to sell to him a large

number of horses and mules fit and proper for the service, at

one hundred and ten dollars each, and to enter into bonds to

comply therewith, he, said Major McKinstry, falsely stated to

said Irvine that Government did not want any more stock, and

did not and would not purchase from said Irvine, notwithstand-

ing he, said Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid,

was, at the same time, purchasing horses and mules no better

than said Irvine's from other persons—that is to say, F. J. Flan-

nagon, James B. Neill, B. F. Fox, Charles M. Elleard, and

others—for one hundred and nineteen dollars, thereby then and
there intending to compel said Irvine to sell his mules to per-

sons to whom he was paying higher prices, to the waste and
misapplication of the public funds. Tbis on or about the twen-
tieth September, 186J."
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Specification 21st—"In this; that ho, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, when one Robert P. Coffey, of the city of

Saint Louis, was desirous of selling to Government a large num-

ber of mules fit and proper for the service, at one hundred and

eight dollars each, and offered them to said Major McKinstry, he,

said McKinstry, failed and refused to purchase the same, until

said Coffey had been compelled to sell them to one Captain Le-

onidas Haskell, at one hundred and eight dollars each, in Mis-

souri Bank paper, after which, he, said Major McKinstry,

purchased the same mules from said Haskell at the price of one

hundred and nineteen dollars each, with intent to secure to said

Haskell large gains above the market value of said animals,

and to the Avaste and scpiandering of the public funds and the

disgrace of the service. "

Specification 22d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry , having

purchased of one Robert W. Peay, of the city of St. Louis, two

hundred and ninety mules for the service, at the price of one

hundred and ten dollars each, on or about the 20th day of Sep-

tember, 1861, afterwards issued to one James B. Neill, of the

city of St. Louis, a voucher for the same mules as if sold to the

United States by said Neill. Said voucher is in the words and

figures following to wit:

' No. 12.

' The United States.

'To James B. Neill, Dr.

• Date of purchase. 'Dolls. Cts.

'1861.

'August 16, 40 mules,
"^

$119 39,984 00
20, 263

I

" 21, 27 " j

' I certify that the above is correct and just, and that the articles

have been accounted for on my property return for the quarter

ending on the 30th of September, 1861.

(Signed,) ';j. McKINSTRY,
' Major and Senior Quartermaster.

' Received at , the of , 186—, of ,

Quartermaster, United States Army, the sum of thirty thousand
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nine hundred and eighty-four dollars and cents, in full of

the above account.

'(Signed in duplicate.)

(Signed,) 'JAMES B.NEILL. 7

The charge for two hundred and sixty-three mules, under date

of 20th, and of twenty-seven mules, under date 21st, in said

voucher, being the same mules sold by said Peay to said Major

McKinstry, which said voucher was and is false; in this, that

said two hundred and ninety mules were not sold to said

McKinstry by said Neill at all, but were sold by Robert W. Peay

to said McKinstry, Quartermaster as aforesaid, for one hundred

and ten dollars each, and not for one hundred and nineteen

dollars each, as stated in the voucher; he, said Major Justus

McKinstry, thereby intending to secure to said Neill, or others in

collusion with him, large gains by means of said false voucher,

to the waste and squandering of the public funds and the dis-

grace of the service."

Specification 23d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, when, about the first day of September, 1861,

one Robert W. Peay, of St. Louis, was able and willing to fur-

nish to his department about eight hundred mules, during the

residue of said month, for about the sum of one hundred and

eight dollars each, in Missouri Bank paper, and offered to con-

tract with him to furnish said mules of quality fit and proper for

the service, failed, neglected, and refused to entertain the prop-

osition of said Peay, and told said Peay the Government did

not want any more mules then; but afterwards, when said Peay

had sold his mules to one Leonidas Haskell, from whom he,

Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid, was pur-

chasing mules at one hundred and nineteen dollars each, and

said Haskell had purchased said Peay's mules for one hundred

and eight dollars each in said Missouri Bank paper, he, said

Major McKinstry, purchased the same mules from said Haskel

as fast as said Peay turned them over to Haskell, he, said

McKinstry, taking every one from said Haskell at one hundred

and nineteen dollars each, to the number of about eight hundred.

This on the first day of September, and on divers days between
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that and the seventh day of October, 1861, at St. Louis, Mo. ; he,

said Major McKinstry, intending thereby to secure large gains to

said Haskell above the market value of said animals, to the

wastage of the public funds."

Specification 24th—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, on the first day of July, eighteen hundred and sixty-

one, and on divers days between that and the sixth day of

October, in the same year, as Quartermaster aforesaid, did pur-

chase, altogether, a large number of horses for the service—to

wit: about fifteen hundred—at rates of about one hundred and

fifty dollars for artillery, and one hundred and nineteen dollars

for cavalry per head, which were unfit for the service, and

almost worthless, from being too young or too old, blind, weak-

eyed, damaged, worn-out, or diseased; he, said Major Justus

McKinstry, acting in that behalf in gross carelessness and disre-

gard of the interests of the service, to the misapplication and

wasting of the public funds."

Specification 25th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, did, on the first day of July, eighteen hun-

dred and sixty-one, and on divers days between that day

and the sixth October, in the same year, at St. Louis, Mo.,

did purchase for his department a large number of mules at one

hundred and nineteen dollars each—viz: altogether about one

thousand mules—which were unfit for the service, and almost

worthless, from being too old or too young, blind, weak-eyed,

damaged, worn-out, or diseased; he, said Major McKinstry, acting

in that behalf in gross carelessness and disregard of the interest

of the service, to the waste and squandering of the public

funds."

Specification 26th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, having, on or about the tenth day of August,

1861, authorized one Charles M. Elleard, without any previous

advertisement for proposals, to furnish to his department a large

number of artillery and cavalry horses, at the price of one hun-

dred and fifty dollars for artillery horses, and one hundred and

nineteen dollars for cavalry horses, said prices being exorbitant
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and above the market values, and said contract being worth about

the sum of forty thousand dollars to said Ellcard, he, said Major

Justus McKinstry, in consideration of granting such a favor to

said Elleard, undertook to appropriate a portion of said profits;

that is, he, said Major McKinstry, required said Elleard to allow

one P. Brady, of Detroit, Michigan, to share with him equally

said profits; and though said Elleard did not want said Brady

as a partner, and said Brady was of no use to said Elleard, yet,

in consideration of securing the favor of said Major McKinstry

as Quartermaster and contracting agent of the Government, and

for no other consideration, he, said Elleard, consented, at Mc-

Kinstry''s demand, to allow said Brady to receive twenty thou-

sand dollars, or thereabout, of said profits ; he, said McKinstry,

thereby prostituting his office to secure for said Brady, and others

in collusion with him, said amount of money, to the disgrace of

the service."

Specification 21'th—"In this; that one Alfred B. Ogden, being archi-

tect for Benton Barracks, with authority from Major Justus

McKinstry to let out the roofing of said barracks, and said

Ogden having stipulated for and received from one Henry

Clapp, of St. Louis, a written order, substantially as follows :

'Major McKinstry: Please pay to the bearer, P. L. Bierce
7

the sum of $700, against contract for materials furnished August.

14, 1861. (Signed) Henry Clapp,' as a bribe to him, said

Ogden, for accepting the bid of said Clapp, and securing

to him, said Clapp, the job of roofing, and said Ogden
notwithstanding his receiving said order as a consideration

for giving the job to Clapp, having failed to do so, and

said Clapp having spoken of the said facts, which came to

the knowledge of Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster afore

said, he, said McKinstry, on the twenty-third day of August,

eighteen hundred and sixty-one, at St. Louis, Missouri, caused

said Clapp to come before him as Provost Marshal of St. Louis,

and the said McKinstry did then and there, by cursing and

abusing said Clapp, by denouncing him as a 'liar' and a 'dis-

unionist,' by threatening 'to imprison' him, said Clapp, and
' feed him on bread and water,' and by ordering a file of sol-
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diers, whom he paraded before said Clapp, to seize and take him
away, greatly terrify and frighten said Clapp, and by means
thereof did force and compel him to sign and swear to the fol-
lowing statement

:

' St. Louis, August 23, 1861.
'Having charged Mr. Ogden, the architect of the government,

with fraud in the management of the business intrusted to him
by the Quartermaster, I hereby revoke said charge and relieve
him from the same. I hereby swear and declare that I am a
good loyal citizen of the United States, and will do all that is
in my power to uphold and protect the same; that I will not,
directly or indirectly, give aid or information to the enemy in
any manner or form.

(Signed,) 'HENRY CLAPP.
Sworn to and subscribed in presence of S. B. Brady and S. B.

Lowe
All that portion of said statement relating to revoking the charge
offraud and relieving said Ogden therefrom being false entirely
and being extorted from said Clapp against his free will and
consent, by the means aforesaid, employed by said Major J
McKtnstry, to the great oppression of said Henry Clapp and to
the deep disgrace of the service."

Specification 28th-« In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-
termaster, when one Alexander Largue, of the city of St. Louis
on or about September 10, 1861, offered to sell to him a lot of
covered canteens, 4,000 in number, fit and proper for the service
for 36k cents each, and offered to contract to deliver to him a
very large quantity of such canteens for the same price, to be
delivered to suit the convenience of said Quartermaster McKin-
stry failed and refused to purchase the same or contract with
said Largue in that behalf, but referred him to one S B Bradv
of Detroit, Michigan, who then and there purchased the same
4 000 canteens from Largue at 36£ cents each, and afterwards sold
them to the Quartermaster's department at St. Louis, Mo., through
Captain W. G. Rankin, a junior quartermaster, for 44 cents each,
who issued to said Brady a voucher, which, so far as relates to
said canteens, is in the words and figures following, to wit-
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' United States,

'1861. ' To S. P. Brady.
( October 4. For 4,000 canteens, 44 cents $1 ,760 00

'I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending- on the 31st December, 1861.

'W. G. EANKIN,
' Captain, 13<//- Infantry.''

That he, said McKinstry, did suffer and permit said Brady so to

purchase and sell said canteens, to the gross neglect and dis-

regard of the interest of the service, and with intent to secure to

said Brady a speculation on the same."

Specification 29th—"In this; that he, Major J. McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, on or about the nineteenth day of August,

1861, having need to purchase for his department a large num-

ber of common tents, did not and would not suffer one Henry

Martin, of the city of St. Louis, to sell them to him at the mar-

ket value ; but when said Martin wrote him a note, offering to

furnish him a large number, referred said Martin to one Joseph

S. Pease, who charged said Martin a commission of five per

cent, on the value of all the tents he, said Martin, sold to him,

Pease; and when said Pease had in this way purchased the

tents from Martin, he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster afore-

said, purchased the same tents from Pease at a price which

enabled said Pease to make said commission clear; he, said

Major McKinstry, thereby prostituting his office, with intent to

secure to said Pease said commission from said Martin, to the

oppression of said Martin and to the disgrace of the service."

Specification 30th—" In this; that on or about the first day of August,

1861, he, said Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid,

gave to one Joseph S. Pease the control of the business of purchas-

ing tents for his department in the city of St. Louis, in so far as to

enable said Pease to compel tentmakers to pay him, Pease, a

commission in order to sell their tents ; and when one Horace

Hallon had paid to said Pease a commission of five per cent, on

a large number of tents which he sold Pease, he, said Major
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J. McKinstry, purchased the saine tents from said Pease at a price

which enabled said Pease to make said commission clear; he,

said Major Justus McKinstry, thereby prostituting- his office,

with intent to compel said Holton to pay such commission to

said Pease, to the great oppression of said Holton and to the

disgrace of the service."

Specification 31st—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, on or about the first day of August, 1861, gave

to one Joseph S. Pease control of the business of purchasing

tents for his department in the city of St. Louis, in so far as to

enable said Pease a commission in order to sell their tents; and
when John G. Dodge, of said city, had so paid to said Pease a

commission of two and a half per cent, on a large number of

tents he sold him, he, said Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, purchased the same tents from Pease at a price which

left said Pease to retain said commission, thereby prostituting

his office, with intent to secure said commission to Pease, to the

oppression of the said Dodge."

Specification 32d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, on or about the first day of August, 1861, gave

to one Joseph S. Pease control of the business of purchasing

tents for his department in the city of St. Louis, in so far as to

enable said Pease to compel tentmakers to pay him, Pease, a

commission in order to sell their tents; and when James Sanders,

of said city, had so paid to said Pease a commission of five per

cent, on a large number of tents he sold him, he, said Major

McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid, purchased the same tents

from Pease at a price which left said Pease to retain said com-

mission, thereby prostituting his office, with intent to secure said

commission to Pease, to the oppression of the said Saunders."

Specification 33d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, on or about the first day of August, 1861, gave

to one Joseph S. Pease control of the business of purchasing

tents for his department in the city of St. Louis, in so far as to

enable said Pease to compel tentmakers to pay him, Pease, a

commission in order to sell their tents; and when Malcolm Mc-
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Quaig, of said city, had so paid to said Pease a commission of

per cent, on a large number of tents he sold him, he, said

Major McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid, purchased the same

tents from Pease at a price which left said Pease to retain said

commission, thereby prostituting his office, with intent to secure

said commission to Pease, to the oppression of the said McQuaig."

Specification 34th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster as aforesaid, having need, on or about the first day of

August, 1861, to purchase tents for his department, did not and

would not purchase the same in the market nor for the market

value, but authorized one Joseph S. Pease, a relative by marriage,

to furnish the same for him; and when one Clemens & Co., tent-

makers, of the city of St. Louis, had sold to said Pease a lot of

onehundred tents for twenty-two dollars each, he, Major McKin-

stry, purchased from said Pease the same tents for thirty dollars

each; he, said McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to

secure to said Pease, and others in collusion with him, large

gains to the waste and squandering of the public funds."

Specification 35th—"In this; that he, Major J. McKinstry, on or about

the 1st day of August, 1861, having need to purchase for his

department a large number of tents, did not and would not pur-

chase the same in the market nor for the market value, but

authorized one Joseph S. Pease to furnish the same to him; and

when said Pease in this way had purchased from John G.

Dodge a number of tents at the same price for which said

Dodge would have sold them to said Major McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, he, said McKinstry, purchased the same

tents from said Pease at a large advance on the price which said

Pease had paid to Dodge. This on the 1st day of August, 1861,

and on divers days between that day and the sixth day of

October, 1861, at St. Louis, Mo."

Specification 36th—"In this; that he, Major J. McKinstry, Quarter-

master, on or about the 1st day of August, 1861, having need to

purchase tents for his department, did not and would not pur-

chase the same in the market nor for the market value, but

authorized one Joseph S. Pease to furnish him the same; and

2
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when said Pease had purchased of one John G. Dodge, a tent-

maker of the city of St. Louis, a lot of tents for fifty-five dollars

each, he, said McKinstry, then and there purchased the same
tents of said Pease at the price of sixty-five dollars each; he,

said Major McKinstry, thereby intending to secure to said Pease,

and others in collusion with him, large gains over the market

value of the articles purchased. This on the day last mentioned,

and divers other days between that day and the 6th October,

1861, at St. Louis, Mo."

Specification 37th—" In this ; that he, Major J. McKinstry, Quartermas-

ter aforesaid, on or about the 26th day of July, 1861, having need

to purchase a large number of tents for his department of all

descriptions, did not and would not purchase the same in the

market nor for the market value, but authorized one Joseph S.

Pease to purchase up the tents in the Saint Louis market,

and to contract to purchase these articles from the tentmakers

of the city, at the best terms he could procure; and when
he, said Pease, had so procured the tents, he, Major Mc-

Kinstry, purchased the same tents from Pease at a large ad-

vance on the prices which Pease paid, and at which he, Mc-

Kinstry, might have procured them himself directly from the

tentmakers, thereby intending to secure lage gains to said Pease,

and others in collusion with him, to the misapplication and

squandering of the public funds. This at Saint Louis, on the

day last mentioned, and on divers days between that day and

the 6th October, 1861."

Specification 38th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, on or

about the 9th day of August, 1861, and on divers days between that

day and the sixth day of October, 1861, having need to purchase

mess-pans for his department, did not and would not purchase

the same in the market nor for the market price ; but, without

any advertisement for proposals, authorized Messrs. Child, Pratt

& Fox, hardware merchants, of Saint Louis, Mo., to furnish

him, as Quartermaster, with said articles; and said Child, Pratt

& Fox, between the days aforesaid, at divers times, purchased

of one Giles F. Filley, of the city of St. Louis, about six thousand

mess-pans at about 29£ cents each, and when said Child, Pratt &
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Fox had so purchased said articles, he, said Major Justus Mc.

Kinslry, purchased from said Child, Pratt & Fox the same mess,

pans for 35 cents each, which was an exorbitant price; thereby

then and there intending- to secure large gains above the market

value of said articles to said Child, Pratt & Fox, and others

in collusion with them, to the waste of the public funds, and

gross neglect and disregard of the interests of the service."

Specification 39th—"In this ; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, on or about the 9th day of August, 1861,

and on divers days between that day and the sixth day of Octo-

ber, 1861, having- need to purchase camp-kettles for his depart-

ment, did not and would not purchase the same in the market

nor for the market value; but, without any advertisement for pro-

posals, authorized Messrs. Child, Pratt & Fox to furnish him, as

Quartermaster, with said articles ; and said Child, Pratt & Fox,

on the days and at divers times between the days last men-

tioned, purchased of Giles F. Filley, of St. Louis, about five

thousand camp-kettles at about 42£ cents each, and when, and

as fast as said Child, Pratt & Fox had so purchased the said

articles, he, said Major Justus McKinstry, purchased from said

Child, Pratt & Fox the same camp-kettles for sixty-five cents

each, which was an exorbitant price; thereby then and there

intending to secure large gains to said Child, Pratt &. Fox, and

others in collusion with them, to the gross neglect and disregard

of the interest of the service, and to the waste of the public

funds."

Specification 40th—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, on the day of September, 1861, and on divers

days between that day and the sixth day of October, 1861,

having need to purchase tin plates for his department, did not

and would not purchase the same in the market nor for the

market price, but authorized said Child, Pratt & Fox, without

any advertisement for proposals, to furnish the same to him as

Quartermaster; and said Child, Pratt & Fox, on the days afore-

said, and on divers days between those days, purchased of

Oliver D. Filley, of the city of St. Louis, about fifteen hundred
tin plates at about 4£ cents each, and when said Child, Piatt &
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Fox had so purchased said tin plates, and as fast as they pur-

chased them, he, said McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid, pur-

chased from said C, P. & F. the same tin plates at seven cents

each, which was an exorbitant price; thereby then and there

intending to secure large gains to said Child, Pratt & Fox, and

others in collusion with them, to the gross neglect and disre-

garding the interests of the service, and to the waste of the

public funds."

Specification 41st—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, on the 1st day of August, 1861, and on

divers days between that day and the 6th day of October, 1861,

having need to purchase picket-pins for his department, did not

and would not purchase them in the market nor for the market

value; but, without any advertisements for proposals, authorized

Child, Pratt & Fox to furnish the same to him as Quartermaster

aforesaid; and said Child, Pratt & Fox, on the days aforesaid,

and between those days, at divers times, purchased in the city of

St. Louis, of one Peter J. Pauley, about two thousand picket-

pins at 45 cents each for a portion, and 35 cents each for the

residue, and when they had so purchased said picket-pins, and

as fast as they purchased them, he, Major J. McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, purchased the same picket-pins from said

Child, Pratt & Fox at the price of 65 cents each, which was an

exorbitant price ; he, the said McKinstry, thereby intending to

secure to Child, Pratt & Fox large gains above the market value

of these articles, to the gross neglect and disregard of the interests

of the service, and to the waste of the public funds."

Specification 42d—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master as aforesaid, having had from one Thomas Hood, on or

about the 9th day of April, 1861, a written proposal to furnish

to his department picket-pins of quality fit and proper for the

service, at the price of 25 cents each, and knowing that he could

purchase in the market, in the city of St. Louis, as many picket-

pins of the like quality, from the said Thomas Hood, as was

needed for his department, at about 25 cents each, did not and

would not purchase the same ; but, without accepting said Thomas

Hood's bid, and without seeking to procure picket-pins at their
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market value, purchased from Child, Pratt &. Fox about two thou-

sand of these articles at 65 cents each, intending- to secure large

gains to said Child, Pratt & Fox, and others in collusion with

them, to the waste and squandering of the public means, and to

the gross neglect and disregard of the public interest."

Specification 43d—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, on or about

the 27th September, 1861, at St. Louis, having need to purchase

overcoats for his department, did not and would not purchase

the same in the market nor for the market price ; but, without

any advertisement for proposals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox

to furnish the same to him; and when they had purchased then

and there from Martin & Bros., at Saint Louis, 802 overcoats

for the price of seven dollars and fifty cents each, ($7.50,) he,

said McKinstry, then and there purchased the same 802 over-

coats from Child, Pratt &. Fox for $10.50 each, and afterwards

issued to them a voucher for the same, which, so far as relates to

said overcoats, is in the words and figures following, to wit:

'No. 12.

' The United States,

' To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

' Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September 26. 802 overcoats, at $10.50 $8,421 00

' I certify that the above is correct and just, and that the arti-

cles have been accounted for on my property return for the

quarter ending on the 30th September, 1861.

'J. McKINSTRY,
' Brig. GenH, Ass't Quartermaster.'1

He, said McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to secure

to Child, Pratt & Fox, and others in collusion with them, large

gains, to the waste of the public funds."

Specification 44th—"In this; that he, Major J. McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, having need, about the 17th September, 1861,
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at St. Louis, to purchase blouses for his department, did not

and would not purchase the same in the market nor for the

market value, but then and there authorized Child, Pratt & Fox
to furnish the same; and when said Child, Pratt & Fox had
purchased then and there, of Martin & Brothers, clothiers in St,

Louis, 802 blue blouses, on September 17, 1861, for $2.25 each,

he, said McKinstry, purchased from said Child, Pratt & Fox
the same 802 blue blouses for $3 each; afterwards, on the 26th

September, 1861, issued to said Child, Pratt & Fox a voucher

therefor, which, so far as relates to the 802 blouses, is in the

words and figures following, to wit:

'No. 12.

'The United States,

< To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

'Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts-

' September 26. 802 blue blouses, at $3 $2,406 00

'I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property returns for

the quarter ending on the 30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKINSTRY,
' Brig. GenH, AssH Quartermaster.''

He, said McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to secure

to said Child, Pratt & Fox large gains above market value of

said articles, to the squandering of the public funds."

pecification 45th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, about

the 19th September, 1861, at St. Louis, having need to purchase

blouses for his department, did not and would not purchase the

same in the market nor for the market price; but, without any

advertisement for proposals, then and there authorized Child,

Pratt & Fox, a hardware house, to furnish the said articles to

him; and when, on the 19th September, 1861, at St. Louis, said

Child, Pratt & Fox had purchased of Martin & Brothers,

clothiers of said city, 3,000 blue blouses for two dollars each, he,
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said McKinstry, then and there purchased from said Child, Pratt

& Fox the same 3,000 blue blouses for the price of three dollars

each, and issued to said Child, Pratt & Fox therefor a voucher,

of which, so far as the same relates to said blouses, the follow-

ing is a copy:

'No. 12

'The United States,

'To Child, Pratt & Fox,

'Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September. 3,000 blue blouses, at $3 $9,000 00

'I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending on the 30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKXNSTKY,
'Major and Assistant Quartermaster. 7

He, said McKinstry, then and there intending to secure thereby

large gains to said Child, Pratt & Fox, and others in collusion

with them, to the waste of the public funds."

Specification 46th—"In this ; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, oh or about the 21st September, 1861, at Saint

Louis, having need to purchase soldiers' pants for his depart-

ment, did not and would not purchase the same in the market

nor for the market value ; but, without any advertisement for

proposals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox, hardware dealers, to

furnish the same to him ; and when said Child, Pratt & Fox had

purchased them then and there, of Messrs Martin & Bro., nine

hundred and four pairs of soldiers' infantry pants, for the price

of two dollars and fifty cents per pair, he, said Major Justus

McKinstry, Quartermaster, purchased from said Child, Pratt &
Fox the same 904 pair of pants at the price of three dollars and

seventy-five cents per pair, and afterwards issued to said Child,

Pratt & Fox a voucher therefor, which, so far as relates to said

9()4 punts, is in the words and figures following, to wit:
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'No. 12.

'The United States,

' To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.
' Date of pitrchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September 26. 904 pair pants, at $3.75 3,390 00

' I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending on the 30th of September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKINSTRY,
' Brig. Gen I, and Quartermaster.'

He, said Major McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to

secure to said Child, Pratt & Fox, and others in collusion with

them, large gains, to the wasting of the public funds, over the

market value of said articles."

Specification 47th—In this ; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, on or about the 21st September, 1861, Laving

need to purchase for his department infantry jackets, did not

and would not purchase the same in the market nor for the

market price; but, without any advertisement for proposals, au-

thorized Messrs. Child, Pratt & Fox, dealers in hardware, to

furnish the same to him; and when said Child, Pratt & Fox had

purchased then and there, from Messrs. Martin & Bros.,

clothiers, of Saint Louis, nine hundred and four jackets, at the

price of $3.75 each, he, said Major Justus McKinstry, purchased

from said Child, Pratt & Fox the same 904 infantry jackets for

the price of $5.75 each; and afterwards, on the 26th September,

1861, issued to said Child, Pratt & Fox a voucher therefor,

which, so far as relates to said 904 infantry jackets, is in the

words and figures following, to wit

:

'No. 12.

'The United States,

' To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

'Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September 26. 904 infantry jackets, at $5. 75 5,198 00
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' I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending on the 30th of September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKlNSTRY,
'Brig. Gen' I, and Quartermaster.'

1

He, said McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to secure

to said Child, Pratt & Fox large gains above the market value

of the articles, to the waste of the public funds."

Specification 48th—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, having need, about the 1st September, 1861, to pur-

chase for his department cavalry equipments, did not and would

not purchase the same in the market nor for the market value:

but, without any advertisement for proposals, authorized Child,

Pratt & Fox, hardware dealers, of St. Louis, to furnish them to

him; and when said Child, Pratt &, Fox had purchased in the

market 293 sets of cavalry equipments for about the price of

$29.50 each, he, said McKinstry, did purchase the same cavalry

equipments from said Child, Pratt & Fox for $40 each, and

afterwards issue vouchers therefor, which, so far as relates to

said cavalry equipments, are in the words and figures following,

to wit:

' No. 12.

' The United States,

'To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

'Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

'September 5. 100 sets cavalry .equipments, complete,

$40 4,000 00

' I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending on the 30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKlNSTRY,
' Brig. Gen'

1

1, and Quartermaster.'
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'No. 12.

'The United States,

'To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

'Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September 12. 193 sets cavalry equipments, at $40. . 7,720 00

'I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending on the 30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKINSTRY,
' Brig. GerCl, and Quartermaster.

1

He, said McKinstry, thereby intending to secure to Child, Pratt

& Fox large gains above the market value of the said articles, to

the wasting of the public funds."

Specification 49th—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, on or about 25th August, 1861, at St. Louis, having

need to purchase for his department covered canteens, did not

and would not purchase them in the market nor for the market

value; but, without any advertisement for proposals, authorized

one Child, Pratt & Fox, hardware dealers, to furnish them; and

said Child, Pratt & Fox, between the 28th August and the 6th

of October, 1861, purchased in the market about fifteen thousand

canteens, at the price of about 36£ cents each; and as fast as

said Child, Pratt & Fox purchased said covered canteens, he,

said McKinstry, as Quartermaster, purchased the same canteens

from said Child, Pratt & Fox at the price of 60 cents each ; he,

said McKinstry, thereby intending to secure to said Child, Pratt

& Fox large gains above the market value of said articles, to

the waste and squandering of the public funds."

Specification 50th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, issued at St. Louis, Mo., a voucher in the words

and figures following, to wit

:
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'The United States,

To Alexander Kelsy.
'1861.

' July 30. 28,000 pounds hay, at 70 cents per hun-

dred $196 00

514£g, 18,000 pounds oats, at 25 cents ... 128 55

107g%, 6,000 pounds corn, at 25 cents, for

Lieutenant Shreed's Volunteers, Cape

Girardeau 26 80

29. 3,000 bushels (105,000 pounds) oats, at

25 cents, for Major Spicer's brigade

Missouri Volunteers, Mexico Mission.. 750 00

'Aug. 4. 5,000 bushels, 175,000 pounds, oats, at 26

cents, for Major Hatch, Quartermaster,

Cairo 1, 300 00

'2,401 35

'I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that

the articles have been accounted for on my property return for

the quarter ending the 30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKINSTRY,
'Assistant Quartermaster.'

Which voucher so issued was and is false; in this, that said

Kelsy did not sell the United States the quantity named, nor

any hay, on or about the 30th July, 1861, or any other time; did

not sell the United States the quantity named, or any oats, on or

about the 29th or 30th July or 4th August, 1861, or any other

time; did not sell the United States the quantity of corn named,

or any quantity of corn at the time named, or any time, and said

voucher was and is false in every particular; he, said Major

McKinstry, thereby intending to prostitute his office to secure to

one Joseph S. Pease, to whom he delivered said voucher, some

benefit contrary to the rules and regulations of the army."

Specification 51st—"Iu this; that he Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master aforesaid, having need to purchase frying-pans for his

department, did not and would not purchase the same in the mar-

ket nor for the market value; but, about the 1st September, 1861,
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authorized Child, Pratt & Fox to furnish the same to hirn; and

when said Child, Pratt & Fox had purchased a large quantity,

about five hundred frying pans, from John Grey and Company,

Pittsburg, Pa., for about seventeen cents each, he, said McKin-

stry, purchased the same frying-pans from said Child, Pratt &
Fox, at 50 cents each. This at St Louis, on the 1st, 5th, 6th,

12th, 14th, 26th, and 30th days of September, 1861; thereby then

and there intending to secure to said Child, Pratt & Fox large

gains above the market value of said articles, to the waste and

squandering of the public funds."

•Specification 52d—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermas-

'

ter aforesaid, having need, about the 15th August, 1861, to pur-

chase axes with handles to his department, he, said McKin-

stry, did and would not purchase the same in the market nor

for the market value ; but authorized said Child, Pratt &
Fox, without any advertisement for proposals, to furnish the

same; and so, between the day last mentioned and the 6th Oc-

tober, 1861, said McKinstry purchased from said Child, Pratt &
Fox about 1,200 axes with handles, at one dollar fifty cents

each, the market value whereof was about one dollar and fifteen

cents each, to the great waste of the public funds, and the gross

disregard of the public interests."

Specification 53d—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, having need,

about the 20th August, 1861, to purchase hatchets and handles for

his department, did not and would not purchase them in the mar-

ket nor for the market value ; but, without any advertisement for

proposals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox to furnish the same

to him ; and in this way, on said 20th August, and on divers

days between that day and October 6, 1861, purchased about

one thousand hatchets and handles, from said Child, Pratt &
Fox, for seventy-five cents each, the market value whereof was

about 47 cents each, to the great disregard of the public inter-

ests and the waste of the public funds.

"

Specification 54th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quarter-

master, on or about the 4th September, 1861, at Saint Louis,
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having need to purchase shoes for his department, did not and

would not purchase the same in the market nor for the market

value, but then and there authorized one Child, Pratt & Fox, a

hardware house, to furnish the same to him ; and when said

Child, Pratt & Fox, about the 4th September, 1861, had pur-

chased of Maury, Drake & Co., shoe dealers, 413 pair of shoes

for one dollar thirty cents each, he, said McKinstry, then and

there purchased of Child, Pratt & Fox, the same 413 pair

of shoes for one dollar seventy-five cents each, and issued to

said Child, Pratt & Fox a voucher therefor, which, so far as

relates to said 413 pair of shoes, is in the words and figures fol-

lowing-, to wit:

' No. 12.

'The United States,

' To Child, Pratt & Fox, Dr.

Date of purchase.

'1861. 'Dolls. Cts.

' September 5. 413 pair shoes, at $1.75 722 75

' I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that the

articles have been accounted for on my property return for the

30th September, 1861.

(Signed) 'J. McKINSTRY,
' Major, AssH. Quartermaster.'

He, said McKinstry, thereby then and there intending to gecure

to said Child, Pratt & Fox large gains above the market value

of said articles, to the waste of the public funds."

Specification 55th—"In this; that he Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, having need, about the 20th August, 1861, to purchase

shoes for his department, did not and would not purchase the

same in the market nor for the market value ; but, without any

advertisement for proposals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox to

furnish the same to him; and when, on the day aforesaid, and

between that day and the 1st October, 1861, said Child, Pratt &
Fox had purchased, in the city of St. Louis, from Maury,

Drake & Co., James F. Comstock & Co., Fiske, Knight & Co.,
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North, Scott & Co., Claflin, Allen & Co., and Johu R. Leon-

berger, shoe dealers, about ten thousand pair of shoes, for about

one dollar and thirty cents on the average each, he, said

McKinstry, then and there purchased the same shoes, as Quar-

termaster, from Child, Pratt & Fox, at about the price of one

dollar seventy-five cents each; he, said McKinstry, thereby then

and there intending to secure thereby, to Child, Pratt & Fox,

large gains above the market value of said articles, to the wast-

ing of the public funds, and gross disregard of the interests of

the service."

Specification 56th—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

termaster aforesaid, on or about the 20th July, 1861, at Saint

Louis, purchased of Child, Pratt & Fox, hardware dealers, a

large quantity of worthless shoes, for about one dollar seventy-

five cents each, being the same lot afterwards issued to Colonel

Peter E. Blond's regiment, while stationed at Ironton, Missouri;

he, said McKinstry, acting in that behalf in gross neglect and

disregard of the interests of the service."

Specification 57th—"In this; that on or about the 1st day of August,

1861, when a lot of worthless shoes had been issued by his de-

partment to Colonel Peter E. Blond's regiment, then stationed at

Ironton, Mo., and Oliver D. Filley and John T. Witzig had gone

to his, McKinstry's office, in Saint Louis, to inform him- of the

fact, and to ascertain who had sold said lot of shoes to the de-

partment, and had produced to him a sample of the shoes, he,

said McKinstry, failed and refused to make the proper investiga-

tion to detect the imposition, and took away and secreted the

sample of said worthless shoes, with intent to screen and protect

the offending party."

Specification 58th—"In this; that he, Major McKinstry, Quartermaster

aforesaid, about the 1st August, 1861, having need to purchase

knapsacks for his department, did not and would not purchase

the same in the market nor for the market value ; but, without

advertisement for proposals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox to

furnish the same; and when, on the day last mentioned, and on
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divers days between that and the 6th October, 1861, Child, Pratt

& Fox had purchased in the market about 15,000 knapsacks, at

about $2. 30 each, on the average, he, said McKinstry, Quarter-

master, purchased the same knapsacks from Child, Pratt &
Fox at from $3.25 each to $3.50 each; he, said McKinstry,

thereby intending to secure to Child, Pratt & Fox large gains

above the market value of said articles, to the wasting of the

public funds, and gross disregard of the interests of the service."

jecification 59th—"Between the 15th August, 1861, and October 1st,

1861, McKinstry bought of Child, Pratt & Fox over 20,000

pair of soldiers' drawers, at 60 cents, for which Child, Pratt &
Fox paid about 42 cents each, and which he could have bought

at that price, if he had seen fit."

deification 60th—"That between the 10th August, 1861, and October

6th, 1861, Quartermaster McKinstry bought of Child, Pratt &
Fox about 1,500 spades, at a price of from $1 each to $1. 15

each, an exorbitant price; the market value being about 65 cents

each."

deification 61st—"In this; that he, Major Justus McKinstry, on or

about the 1st day of July, 1861, at St. Louis, Mo., having need

to purchase a large quantity of army supplies for his depart-

ment, did not and would not purchase the same in the market

nor for the market value; but, without advertisement for pro-

posals, authorized Child, Pratt & Fox to furnish the same to

him; and said Child, Pratt &. Fox did, under such authority,

purchase, in the city of St. Louis, a vast quantity of army sup-

plies, consisting of cavalry jackets, and pants and coats ; in-

fantry pants, jackets and coats; canteens, covered and uncov-

ered; cavalry equipments; blankets; camp-kettles; mess-pans;

picket-pins; axes, with handles; shovels; hatchets, with han-

dles; boots and shoes; coffee-pots; coffee-mills; spades; can-

teens; tin plates; knapsacks; blouses; flannels; pickaxes and

handles; blue cloth; water buckets; spurs and straps; army

caps ; horse-shoes ; mule-shoes ; horse-shoe nails ; drawers ; flan-

nel shirts; fry-pans; wheelbarrows; horse brushes : horse rasps;
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specie boxes; currycombs, and other articles, or some of them,

to a large amount—say three hundred thousand dollars, more or

less; and did purchase, under such authority, in the United

States, east of the Mississippi river, a large amount of such

articles, or some of them—say three hundred thousand dollars,

mure or less—in the city of St. Louis; and having so purchased

the same articles, he, said McKinstry, purchased the articles so

purchased by said Child, Pratt & Fox in the city of St. Louis

at an advance upon the price stipulated for by them of from ten

per cent, to one hundred per cent. ; and he, said McKinstry, did

purchase from said Child, Pratt and Fox the articles so purchased

by them east of the Mississippi river at an advance upon the

price stipulated for by them of from twenty per cent, to one

hundred per cent. ; he, said McKinstry, Quartermaster aforesaid,

thereby intending to secure to said Child, Pratt & Fox large

gains, to the wasting of the public funds, and to the disregard

of the interests of the service."

To all which specifications, and to the Charge, the accused pleaded

" Not Guilty."

Finding.

The Court, having maturely weighed and considered the testimony

adduced, finds the accused, Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster,

United States Army, as follows:

Of the 1st and 2d Specifications, "Not Guilty."

Of the 3d Specification, " Guilty, excepting the words 'no better than

Colburn's,' and 'Almon Thompson,' and 'and F. J. Flannagan.' "

Of the 4th, 5th, and 6th Specifications, "Not Guilty."

Of the 7th Specification, " Guilty, excepting the words ' the market

value of which was about ninety dollars only, each,' and 'and others

in collusion with him.'
"

Of the 8th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'the market

value of which on the average was about one hundred and ten dollars

only, each,' and 'and others in collusion with him.'
"

Of the 9th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'about one

thousand,' and ' the market value of which was about eighty dollars

each,' and 'and others in collusion with him.'
"
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Of the 10th Specification, "Guilty, excepting- the words 'about three

hundred,' and 'and others in collusion with him.' "

Of the 11th Specification, "Not Guilty. Find the facts as set forth

in this specification, but, owing to the accused's acting to some extent

under the instructions of his commanding general, attach no crimi-

nality to the accused."

Of the 12th Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the ]3th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'five hun-

dred,' substituting the words four hundred therefor; and for the words

'ninety dollars,' substituting one hundred dollars; and in the place of

'one hundred dollars,' substituting one hundred and fifteen dollars."

Of the 14th Specification, "Not Guilty: but find the fact that Major

McKinstry did pay one B. F. Fox an additional allowance of twenty-

five dollars per head on a certain number of artillery horses, but, under

the circumstances of the case, attach no criminality thereto, it appear-

ing to be a simple act of justice to Fox."

Of the 15th, 16th, and 17th Specifications, "Not Guilty."

Of the 18th Specification, "Guilty; substituting in the place of '©ne

hundred dollars' the words ' one hundred, and one hundred and ten

dollars,'' and excepting the words ' refused and,' ' and F. J. Flannagan,'

'and Flannagan,' and 'he, said McKinstry, thereby then and there in-

tending to compel said Everett to turn his horse over to said Elleard

and Flannagan, and other contractors at higher prices.'
"

Of the 19th Specification, "Not Guilty; but find the fact of McKin-

stry's refusing to buy of John Allen, but, under the circumstances,

attach no criminality thereto."

Of the 20th Specification, "Not Guilty. Find the fact that the ac-

cused did refuse to purchase of Josephus Irvine mules at ($115) one

hundred and fifteen dollars, but, under the circumstances attending the

offer of said Irvine, attach no criminality thereto."

Of the 21st Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the 22d Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with him.' "

Of the 23d, 24th, 25th, 26th, 27th, and 28th Specifications, "Not
Guilty."

Of the 29th Specification, "Guilty "

Of the 30th Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 31st, 32d, 33d, and 34th Specifications, "Not Guilty."

3
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Of the 35th. Specification, " Not Guilty ; but find the fact that the

accused purchased of Joseph S. Pease a number of tents, at an ad-

vance upon the price said Pease paid one Dodge, but attach no crirni

nality thereto under the circumstances."

Of the 36th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with him.'"

Of the 37th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'authorized

one Joseph S. Pease to purchase up the tents in the Saint Louis mar-

ket, and to contract to purchase these articles from the tentmakers of

the city at the best terms he could procure, and,' and ' and others in

collusion with him.'

"

Of the 38th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with them.'"

Of the 39th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and as fast

as,' and 'and others in collusion with them.' "

Of the 40th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'as fast as

they purchased them,' and 'and others in collusion with them.' "

Of the 41st Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words and figures

' 45 cents each for a portion, and,' and ' for the residue.'
"

Of the 42d Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the 43d Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with them.'

"

Of the 44th Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 45th Specification, "Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with them.'"

Of the 4'oth Specification, " Guilty, excepting the words 'and others

in collusion with them.'"

Of the 47th Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 48th Specification, "Not Guilty."

Of the 49th Specification, "Guilty."

Of the 50th, 51st, 52d, and 53d Specifications, "Not Guilty."

Of the 54th Specification, " Guilty."

Of the 55th Specification, " Guilty."

Of the 56th and 57th Specifications, "Not Guilty."

Of the 58th Specification, "Guilty, substituting the figures $2.40, in

the place of $2.30.'"

Of the 59th Specification, "Not Guilty; the specification failing to

give the place, and also failing to designate in a proper manner the

person charged."
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Of the 60th Specification, "Not Guilty; the specification failing to

give the place, and also failing to designate in a proper manner the

person charged."

Of the 61st Specification, " Guilty, excepting the words ' upon the price

stipulated for by them,' wherever they are written in this specification."

Of the Charge, "Guilty."

Sentence.

And the Court does therefore sentence Major Justus McKinstry, Quar-

master, United States Army, " To be dismissed the service.^

II.. The foregoing proceedings, findings, and sentence are approved;

but, exercising the discretion given by Article 89 of the Rules and Ar-

ticles of War, the execution of the sentence is suspended until the

pleasure of the President of the United States can be known, upon the

recommendation of some members of the Court for a remission or miti-

gation of the sentence, this suspension and the proceedings of the

Court Martial being transmitted to the President for his determination.

H. W. HALLECK,
Gen eral-in- Chief.

Headquarters of the Army,
Washington, January 26, 1863.

The following are the orders of the President:

The sentence in the foregoing case will be carried into execution by

the dismissal of Major Justus McKinstry, Quartermaster, United States

Army, from the service of the United States.

ABRAHAM LINCOLN.
Washington, January 28, 1863.

III.. The General Court Martial, of which Brigadier General P. St.

George Cooke is President, is dissolved.

By order of the Secretary of War:

Official:

THOMAS,
Adjutant General.

Assistant Adjutant General.





GENERAL ORDERS, \ WAR DEPARTMENT,
\ Adjutant General's Office,

No. 65. ) Washington, March 16, 1863.

I.. Before a General Court Martial, which convened at the Head-

quarters 2d Brigade, 3d Division, 5th Army Corps, December 8, 186*2,

pursuant to'Special Orders, No. 10, dated Headquarters 3d Division,

5th Army Corps, December 6, 1862, and of which Colonel J. G.

Frick, 129th Pennsylvania Volunteers, is President, was arraigned

and tried

—

2d Lieutenant William H. Wolfe, 131st Pennsylvania Volunteers.

Charge 1st.
—"Disobedience of orders."

Specification—"In this; that the said 2d Lieutenant William H. Wolfe,

Company *E,' 131st Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteers, when
ordered by his Commanding Officer, Lieutenant Colonel William

B. Shant, to appear before a Board for the examination of

Officers, then in session at the Headquarters of General Griffin's

Division, did disobey said order. This at Camp near Potomac

Creek, Virginia, on or about the 1st day of December, A. D.

1862."

Charge 2d.—" Conduct prejudicial to good order and military dis-

cipline."

Specification—"In this; that the said 2d Lieutenant William H. Wolfe,

Company ' E,' 131st Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteers, when
asked by his Commanding Officer, Lieutenant Colonel William

B. Shant, why he did not go before the Examining Board, as

ordered, answered, ' I'll be God-damned if I came into the Army
to study tactics, but to fight,' or words to that effect, and did

use other disrespectful and insulting language to his said Com-

manding Officer, in the presence of privates belonging to said

Regiment. This at Camp near Potomac Creek, Virginia, on or

about the 3d day of December, 1862."

To all which charges and specifications the accused, 2d Lieutenant

William H. Wolfe, 131st Pennsylvania Volunteers, pleaded "Not
Guilty."



Finding.

The Court, having maturely considered the evidence adduced, finds

the accused, 2d Lieutenant William H. Wolfe, Company "E," 131st

Pennsylvania Volunteers, as follows:

Charge I.

Of the Specification, " Guilty."

Of the Charge, "Guilty."

Charge II.

Of the Specification, "Guilty."

Of the Charge, "Guilty."

Sentence.

And the Court does therefore sentence him, 2d Lieutenant William

H. Wolfe, Company "E," 131st Pennsylvania Volunteers, " To be dis-

missed the service of the United States."

II.. The proceedings in the case of 2d Lieutenant Wolfe, have been

approved by the Mai or General Commanding Army of the Potomac;
but in consideration of the good conduct of the accused at the battle

of Fredericksburg, and the recommendation of his Division Com-
mander, the sentence has been suspended, and, under the 89th Article

of War, the proceedings have been forwarded for the action of the

President, with a recommendation, that the sentence be remitted.

The recommendation is approved and the sentence remitted.

By order of the Secretary of War:

L. THOMAS,
Adjutant General.

Official :

Assistant Adjutant General.


